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 PASSAIC COUNTY DEMOCAATIC COMMITTEE ..
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= A ld WILLIAM J. PASCRELL, JR. County Chairman
~ ROSE NAG Cheirme

October 25, 1982

Commission of General Counsel
1325 K Street N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20463

RE: Passaic County Democratic Committee
MUR 1047

Dear Sir:

In accordance with the Conciliation Agreement the Passaic County
Democratic Committee is forwarding a check for $1,500.00 in
which to pay our civil penalty.

Sincerely,

%lian ascrell, Jr

WJP:11
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

September 16, 1982

John F. Geaney, Jr.

COLE, GEANEY, YAMNER & BYRNE
Counselors at Law

100 Hamilton Plaza

P.0O. Box D

Patterson, New Jersey 07509-0104

Re: MUR 1047
Dear Mr. Geaney:

On September 15, 1982, the Commission accepted the
conciliation agreement signed by William J. Pascrell, Chairman of
the Pagssaic County Democratic Committee in settlement of a
violation of 2 U.S.C. § 433, § 434, § 441la(f), and § 441b(a)
provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as -
amended and 11 C.F.R. § 102.6 (presently § 102.5) and § 104.12
(formerly § 104.10). Pursuant to the Conciliation Agreement the
Passaic County Democratic Committee has 90 days in which to pay
the eivil penalty of $1,500.

The file has been closed in this matter and it will become a
part of the public record within thirty days. However, 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (4) (B) prohibits any information derived in connection
with any conciliation attempt from becoming public without the
written consent of the respondent and the Commission. Should you

wish any such information to become part of the public record,
please advise us in writing.

Enclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the final
conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steé/e

Associate G- eral Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

John F. Geaney, Jr.
COLE, GEANEY, YAMNER & BYRNE (:b-
Counselors at Law vﬁ

100 Hamilton Plaza )Q/

poOo Box D

Patterson, New Jersey 07509-0104

Re: MUR 1047

Dear Mr. Geaney:

On September 15, 1982, the Commission accepted the
conciliation agreement signed by William J. Pascrell, Chairman of
the Passaic County Democratic Committee in settlement of a
violation of 2 U.S.C. § 433, § 434, § 44la(f), and § 441b(a)
provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended and 11 C.F.R. § 102.6 (presently § 102.5) and § 104.12
(formerly § 104.10). Pursuant to the Conciliation Agreement the
Passaic County Democratic Committee has 90 days in which to pay
the civil penalty of §1,500.

The file has been closed in this matter and it will become a
part of the public-record within thirty days. However, 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (4) (B) prohibits any information derived in connection
with any conciliation attempt from becoming public without the
written consent of the respondent and the Commission. Should you
wish any such information to become part of the public record,
please advise us in writing.

Bnclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the final
conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Passaic County Democratic
Committee

CONRCILIATION AGREEMENT

The Federal Election Commission (hereinafter the
*Commission®™) initiated this matter pursuant to information
ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory
responsibilities and found reason to believe that the Passaic
County Democratic Committee ("Respondent®™ or the "Committee®)
violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 433, 434, 441a(f), 441b(a) and 11 C.P.R.

§ 102.6 (presently § 102.5) and § 104.12 (formerly § 104.10 :/).

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondent, having duly
entered into conciliation pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (4) (A) do
hereby agree as follows:

I. The Commission has jurisdiction over the Respondent and
the subject matter of this proceeding.

II. Respondent has had a reasonable opportunity to
demonstrate that no action should be taken in this matter.

III. Respondent enters voluntarily into this Agreement with
the Commission.

IV. The pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:

*/ Prior to the 1979 Amendments.
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A. Respondent, Passaic County Democratic Committee
(the "Committee") is a political committee pursuant to 2 U.S.C.
§ 431(4).

B. Failure to Register Timely

l. 2 U.S.C. § 433 requires committees which

receive contributions or make expenditures in connection with
federal elections exceeding $1,000.00 in a calendar year to
register with the Commission 10 days after such receipts or

expenditures.

2. The Committee initially registered with the

Commission on July 10, 1978.

3. The Committee made expenditures for federal
and non-federal primary election expenses aggregating $8,160.00
in June, 1978 from its Election 1 (18-3584-1) and Regular (10-
1620-5) accounts.

4. The 1978 primary ballot included two federal
offices as well as other non-Federal offices; accordingly, the
expenditures apportioned for federal candidates exceeded
$1,000.00.

5. The Committee should have registered ten days
after making these expenditures.

6. The Committee filed a termination report on
November 20, 1978.

7. The Committee re-registered with the

Commission on August 20, 1980.
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8. The Committee expended at least $13,150.00 on
May 30 and 31, 1980 for primary election expenses from its
Regular (10-1620-5) account.

9. The 1980 ballot included four federal offices
as well as other non-federal offices; aécordingly the
expenditures apportioned for federal elections exceeded
$1,000.00.

10. The Committee should have re-registered ten
days after making these expenditures.

C. Failure to Report Receipts and Disbursements

1. 2 U.S.C. § 434 requires political committees
to report its total receipts and disbursements.

2., The Committee made expenditures in connection
with federal elections from two accounts in 1978, Regular (10-
1620-5) and Election 1 (18-3584-1) accounts, and from two
accounts in 1980, Regular (10-1620-5) and Election 2 (10-4434-5)
accounts.

3. The Committee reported the activity of its
Election 1 (18-3504-1) account and its Regular (10-1620-5)
account from July 1, 1978 until November 20, 1978, at which time
the Committee filed a termination report.

4. The Committee made expenditures in connection
with federal elections in June 1978 which were not reported to
the Commission.

5. The Committee made expenditures in connection

with federal elections in the 1980 primary election
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from its Regular (10-1620-5) account in May 1980 which were not

reported to the Commission.

6. The Committee's reports disclosed payments
aggregating $694.77 for administrative costs related to federal
election activities in 1980.

7. Administrative costs attributable to 1980
federal elections were in the amount of $7,964.41.

8. The Committee should have reported and
accounted for the proper amount ($7,964.41) in its reports for
1980 federal election activities to the Commission.

D. Acceptance and Use of Contributions from
Impermissible Sources

l. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) makes it unlawful for
political committees to accept contributions from corporations or
labor organizations in connection with federal elections.

2. In 1978, the Committee received $4,745.00 from

corporations and $100.00 from labor organizations which were
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deposited in its Regular (10-1620-5) account and from which
expenditures for federal elections were made.

3. In 1980, the Committee received $2,020.00 from
corporations and $1,300.00 from labor organizations which were
deposited in its Regular (10-1620-5) account and from which
expenditures for federal elections were made.

4, 11 C.F.R. § 102.6 (presently § 102.5) requires
political committees which finance activities in connection with

both federal and non-federal elections to either establish a
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separate federal campaign committee which shall register as a

political committee or establish a single committee with a single
account to make contributions to Federal and non-Federal
candidates, but only if all contributions received are
permissible under the Federal Election Campaign Act (the "Act").

5. The Committee did not establish its accounts
pursuant to 11 C.F.R. § 102.6 (presently § 102.5), but rather
established numerous accounts from which expenditures for both
federal ard non-federal election activities were made. These
accounts contained funds not permissible under the Act.

6. 11 C.F.R. § 102.6 (presently § 102.5) also
prohibits the transferring of monies from an account not
specifically designated for federal elections to an account used
to finance federal election activities.

7. The Committee transferred monies in 1978 and
1980 from its Regular (10-1620-5) account, which was not
specifically designated for federal elections and which contained
prohibited contributions, to its Election 1 (18-3584-1) and
Election 2 (10-4434-5) accounts from which expenditures for

federal elections were made. These transfers are as follows:
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T0 AMOUNT  DATE OF TRAMSFER

Election 1 $19,700.00 11/01/78
Total: $19,700.00

Election 2 $ 4,000.00 09/10/80

$ 8,830.00 10/27/80

$ 2,000.00 10/30/80

$ 1,900.00 11/12/80

Total: $16,730.00

E. Failure to Disclose Cash on Hand
l. 2 U.S.C. § 434 and 11 C.F.R. § 104.12 require
political committees to disclose the source of its cash on hand.
2. The Committee reported a balance of $2,692.00
as its cash on hand upon registering in 1978.
3. The Committee failed to adequately disclose
the origin of this opening balance in its reports.

4. The Committee reported a balance of $1,619.51
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upon its re-registration in 1980.
5. The Committee failed to adequately disclose
the source of this opening balance in its reports.
F. Inclusion of Monies from Impermissible Sources
within Cash on Hand
J 1. 11 C.F.R. § 104.12 (formerly § 104.10) makes
it unlawful for political committees to include within its cash
on hand any contributions from sources prohibited by 2 U.S.C.

§ 441b.
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2. The Committee's cash on hand in 1978 and 1980
contained monies from prohibited sources.
G. Acceptance of Excessive Contributions
l. 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f) makes it unlawful for

multicandidate political committees to knowingly accept

contributions from individuals exceeding an aggregate of

$5,000.00 in any calendar year. (See 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a)).

2. 11 C.F.R. § 100.7(a) (1) (i) (C) states that a
loan is a contribution by each endorser or guarantor, and that
each endorser or guarantor shall be deemed to have contributed
that portion of the total amount of the loan for which he or she
agreed to be liable in a written agreement.

3. The Committee received a $12,000.00 loan
endorsed by Mr. Robert Angele and his wife, Lucy Angele, in its
Election 2 (10-4434-5) account on October 17, 1980.

4. The $12,000.00 loan constitutes a $6,000.00
contribution from each of the Angeles.

5. Each contribution exceeds the limitations set
forth in 2 U.S.C. § 441a(a) by $1,000.00.

V. Respondent agrees that it violated:

l. 2 U.S.C. § 433 by failing to register timely
in 1978 and in 1980.

2. 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to report its total
receipts and disbursements in 1978 and 1980, including

administrative costs in 1980.
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3. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) by accepting contributions
from corporations and labor organizations in connection with
federal elections in 1978 and 1980.

4. 11 C.F.R. § 102.6 (presently § 102.5) by
failing to establish committees in accordance with this
provision, and by transferring funds from an account not
designated for federal election activities and which contained
prohibited funds to an account used to finance federal election
activites.

5. 11 C.F.R. § 104.12 (formerly § 104.10) by
failing to disclose the source of its cash on hand in 1978 and
1980; and by including within its cash on hand monies not
permitted by the Act.

6. 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f) by receiving contributions
in excess of limitations set forth by 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a).

VI. Respondent will pay a civil penalty to the treasurer of
the United States in the amount of one thousand and five hundred
dollars ($1,500.00) pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (5)(A).

VII. Respondent agrees that it shall not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. § 431, et seq.

VIII. The Commission, on request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (1) concerning the matters at
issue herein or on its own motion, may review compliance with
this agreement. If the Commission believes that this agreement

or any requirement thereof has been violated, it may institute a
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civil action for relief in the United States District Court for
the District of Columbia.

IX. The agreement shall become effective as of the date
that all parties hereto have executed same and the Commission has
approved the entire agreement.

X. It is agreed that respondent shall have no more than
ninety (90) days from the date this agreement becomes effective
to comply with and implement the requirement contained in this

agreement and to so notify the Commission.

/é/ /0h— Charles N. Steele

General Counsel

Assoclate General Counsel

Passaic County Democratic
Committee

Mﬁwk ,

ITS:




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
* WASHINCTON, D.C. 20463

July 27, 1982

'MEMORANDUM TO: The Commission

FROM: Charles N. Steele
i General Counsel

BY: Kenneth A. Gross //; 5
Associate General Counsel/ /7 -

SUBJECT: MUR 1047; Passaic County Democratic Committee

This matter involves certain violations of the Act by the
Passaic County Democratic Committee (the "Committee"™). On
June 25, 1982, Mr. John Geaney, counsel for the Committee,
requested that the Commission and the Committee resume informal
conciliation (the Commission temporarily suspended earlier
conciliation efforts pending the results of the § 437g audit).
See MUR 1047 General Counsel's Report, dated May 13, 1982.

Attached for the Commission's approval is a conciliation
agreement which

Recommendation

Approve and send the attached conciliation agreement and
letter to Mr. John Geaney, counsel for the Passaic County
Democratic Committee.

Attachments
1. Letter from Respondent
2. Conciliation Agreement
3. Proposed Letter to Respondent's Counsel
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1047
Passaic County Democratic
Committee

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on September 15,
1982, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
following actions in MUR 1047:

1. Accept the conciliation
agreement signed by
William J. Pascrell,
Chairman of the Passaic
County Democratic
Committee as submitted
with the September 10,
1982 Memorandum to the
Commission.

2. Close the file.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Harris, McDonald, McGarry

and Reiche voted affirmatively in this matter.

Attest:

Q- 1552 Hlanisrie 3. Lonmara’

Date : Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: 9-10-82, 3:43
Circulated on 48 hour tally basis: 9-13-82, 11:00
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COLE, GEANEY, YAMNER & BYRNE 52JUNES PI2: 24
A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION ) d J&nﬁﬂhﬁm
COUNSELORS AT LAW i
100 HAMRN PLAZA e—

P. O. BOX D (201) 278-0800
PATERSON. N. J. 07508-0104

June 25, 1982

*Ms. Carolyn Weeder, Esq.
Federal Election Commission
Washington, D.C. 20463

RE: Passaic County Democratic Committee
Your Reference No. MUR1047
Our File No. 624280

Dear Ms. Weeder:

Reference is made to the letter from Frank P. Reiche,
Chairman for the Federal Election Committee, dated May 19, 1982,
addressed to the undersigned regarding the above-captioned
matter and our recent telephone conversation.

As I have indicated to you, as a result of a recent
county committee election in Passaic County, we have a new
chairman of the Passaic County Democratic Committee, namely,
William Pascrell.

I have been in communication with Mxr. Pascrell who
indicates that he would appreciate the resumption of the informal
negotiations which have been pending, incorporating the further
alleged violations into the negotiation.

We would therefore appreciate hearing from you in this
regard so that further discussions can take place in an effort
to resolve outstanding matters.

%

/;k?/xruly yours,

!

'JOHN F. GEANEY, JR.

JFG:tj
cc: William Pascrell
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FED.ERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

May 19, 1982

'CERTIFIED MAIL
u'mw'%csn"r REQUESTED

John F. Geaney
COLE, GEANEY, YAMNER
AND BYRNE
100 Hamilton Plaza
P.O. Box D
Paterson, New Jersey 07509

Re: MUR 1047
Passaic County Democratic
Committee

Dear Mr. Geaney:

On August 6, 1981, the Federal Election Commis&ion informed
you that it had voted to audit your client, the Passaic County
Democratic Committee (the "Committee™) pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §
437g(a) (2) . By that date, the Commission had found reason to
believe that the Passaic County Democratic Committee had violated
2 U.S.C. § 433, 11 C.F.R § 102.6(b) (2) (presently 11 C.F.R.

§ 102.5(a)) by transferring funds from a non-federal account
which contained corporate monies to its federal account; 2 U.S.C.
§ 434, 11 C.F.R. § 104.12 by failing to disclose the source of
cash on hand; 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to disclose
administrative costs in its 1980 reports; and 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f)
by receiving a contribution in excess of limitations set forth by
2 U.S.C. § 44la(a).

Although conciliation proceedings were in progress, the
Commission suspended the negotiations until the results from the
audit were available.

The audit was completed on January 15, 1982. The audit,
however, revealed information which supported additional




Letter to John F. Geaney
Page 2

findings. Specifically, on May 18, 1982, the Commission found
reason to believe that your committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 433 by
failing to register timely and 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to
report receipts and disbursements in 1978 and 1980.

The General Counsel's factual and legal analysis, which
formed a basis for the Commission's finding, is attached for your
information.

Under the Act, you have an opportunity to demonstrate that
no action should be taken against you.

The Commission also reminds you that the investigation being
conducted is confidential in accordance with 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a)(4)(B) and § 437g(a)(12) (A), unless you notify the
Commission in writing that you wish the investigation to be made
public.

If you have any questions, please contact Carolyn Weeder,
the staff member assigned to this matter at (202) 523-4060.

Sincerely,

Pank P Rechy

Frank P. Relche
Chairman for the
Federal Election Commission
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. FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
GENERAL COUNSEL'S FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

MUR NO. 1047
STAFF MEMBER & TEL. NO.
Carolyn Weeder

SRS (202) 523-4060

RESPONDENT: Passaic County Democratic Committee

SOURCE OF MUR: INTERNALLY GENERATED

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS

On July 14, 1981, the Commission voted to audit the Passaic

% 9

° County Democratic Committee (the "Cémmittee*) pursuant to
2 U.8.C. § 437§. Prior to the audit, the Commission had found
-reason to believe that the Committee had ‘viclated certain
provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
améﬁded (the "Act"). Specifically, on February 8,‘1980, the
Commission had found reason to believe th;t the COmmitteé -

violated 2 U.S.C. § 433, 11 C.F.R. § 102.6(b) */ and 2 U.S.C.

Y
ey
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A

§ 441b(a) by transféfting funds from accounts established for

~
~

non-federa} eléctions which contained corporate'monies to its
account designated for federal electioh activities._

Additionally, on July 14, 1981, the Commission found reason to

*/ This cite refers to the regulations in effect at the date
that the activity in question took place, namely, the regulations
prior to the January 1, .1981 revisions. This provision is
presently 11 C.F.R. § 102.5(a).




believe that the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434, 11 C.P.R.

§ 104.12 by failing to disclose the source of its cash'on:hand

in 1978 and 1980; 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f) by receiving a contribution
‘in excess of limitations set forth by 2 v.s.C. 5'441afa)f'and

.2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to disclose receipts and expenditu:es
for administrative costs in its 1980 reports.

' The Commission and the COmmittee had been engaged.in

" informal conciliation from November 13, 1980 to July 19, 1981, at

which time the Commission.sqspended the conciliation proceedings

until the audit results were avajilable. The audit was completed

on January 15, 1982. Based on the audit the Office of General
.Counsel.recommends‘that the Commission make_tﬁe following'mew
 £indings. ' | i
| ~ FACTUAL BASIS AND LEGAL ANALYSIS *

2 U.S.C. § 433 requires that committees which receive
contributions'or'make exﬁenditures in connection with federal
elections exceeding $1,000.00 in a calendar year must register

| withmthe Commission 10 oays after such receimts or expenditureo.
2 U.S.C. s 434 requires these political committees to file.
reports with the Commission.

The Committee initially regisrered»with the Commission on
July 10, 1978, and reported the activity of its Election 1%and
Regular accounts from July 1, 1978 until its termination on
November 30, 1978. However, the audit disclosed that the

COmmittee made expendxtures for federal and non-federal primary

<

*This is the 18-3584-1 account.




election expenses aggregating $8,160.00 in June, 1978. Since the

primary ballot contained two federal Democratic candidates, the

expemditpres attributable to federal elections exceeded

$1,000.00. These ‘expenditures-were not included in their‘ ]
reports. The Committee therefore shouid have registered ten days
.after making these expenditures, and should also have reported
these expenditures.

The Committee re-registered with the Commission on
August 20, 1980, and reported its Election 2*account from July 1
through December 3;. 1980. However, the audit revealed that the
Committee expended at least $13,150.00 on May 30 and 31, 1280 for
1980 primary election expenses from its Begclar account. ‘The
'1956 ballot coptained four federal Democratic candidates as vell.
as'other non-federal candidates. Proper allocation of these
‘expenditures would trigger the Committee's obligation'to.register'
10 days after making'tbeée expenditures. Additionally, the
Committee should have reborted these expenditures and should have
reported the financial activity of both accounts. _ ;

The Office of General Counsel therefore recommends that the
Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated
2 U.S.C. s 433 by failing to timely register in 1978 and 1980,

2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to report receipts and disbursements in
1978 and 1980.

*This is the 10-4434-5 account.
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" The Commit?ee also failed to adequately disclose the source .
of its cash oh hand upon registering in 1980. When quésfioned
about the origin of its $1,619.57 beginning balance, the
:Committee explained that this amount was the residual’ of its 1979
Election account which was transferred to the 1980 Election
_account. Inasmuch as the 1ast deposit into its 1979 Election
"account was a $23,000.00 transfer from its Regular Account which
~ contained corporate and labor monies, the 1980 cash on hand more
likely than not contaiged.fgnds prohibited by 2 U.S.C. § 441b.
Therefore, the office'of General Counsel also recommends that the
Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated

2 U.5.C. § 341b(q) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.12 by including moﬁies
| from corporations ;nd'labor organizatjdns within its cash on hand.

in 1978 and 1980. '

RECOMMENDATIONS

1) Find reason to believe that the Passaic County

Demcoratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 433 by failing to timely
register in 1978 and 1980. |

2) Find reason to belié&e‘that the Passaic County
Democratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to report
receipts and disbursements in 1978 and 1980. '




.‘_‘s...

-3) Find reason to believe that the Passaic County
. - Democratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R.

S 104.12tby including monies from corporations and-labor
organizations within its cash on hand in 1978 and 1980.




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

ERTIFIED MAIL
REQUESTED

John F. Geaney
COLE, GEANEY, YAMNER
AND BYRNE
100 Hamilton Plaza
P.O. Box D
Paterson, New Jersey 07509

Re: MUR 1047 ,
Passaic County Democratic
Committee

Dear Mr. Geaney:

On August 6, 1981, the Federal Election Commission informed
you that it had voted to audit your client, the Passaic County
Democratic Committee (the "Committee") pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §
437g(a) (2). By that date, the Commission had found reason to
believe that the Passaic County Democratic Committee had violated
2 U.S.C. § 433, 11 C.F.R § 102.6(b) (2) (presently 11l C.F.R.

§ 102.5(a)) by transferring funds from a non-federal account
which contained corporate monies to its federal account; 2 U.S.C.
§ 434, 11 C.F.R. § 104.12 by failing to disclose the source of
cash on hand; 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to disclose
administrative costs in its 1980 reports; and 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f)
by receiving a contribution in excess of limitations set forth by
2 U.S.C. § 441a(a).

Although conciliation proceedings were in progress, the
Commission suspended the negotiations until the results from the
audit were available.

The audit was completed on January 15, 1982. The audit,
however, revealed information which supported additional

u




Letter to John F. Geaney
Page 2

findings. Specifically, on May 18, 1982, the Commission found
reason to believe that your committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 433 by
failing to register timely and 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to
report receipts and disbursements in 1978 and 1980.

The General Counsel's factual and legal analysis, which
formed a basis for the Commission's finding, is attached for your
"information.

Under the Act, you have an opportunity to demonstrate that
no action should be taken against you.

The Commission also reminds you that the investigation being
conducted is confidential in accordance with 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a)(4)(B) and § 437g(a) (12) (A), unless you notify the
commission in writing that you wish the investigation to be made
public. '

If you have any questions, please contact Carolyn Weeder,
the staff member assigned to this matter at (202) 523-4060.

Sincerely,

Enclosure
General Counsel's Factual and Legal Analysis




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION CO“HISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1047
Passaic County Democratic
Committee

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on May 18,
1982, the Commission decided by a vote of 5-0 to take the

following actions in MUR 1047:

1. Find Reason to Believe that
the Passaic County Democratic
Committee violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.12
by including monies from
corporations and labor organizations
within its cash on hand in 1978 and
1980.

Find Reason to Believe that the
Passaic County Democratic
Committee violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 433 by failing to register
timely in 1978 and 1980.

Find Reason to Believe that the
Passaic County Democratic
Committee violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 434 by failing to report
receipts and disbursements in
1978 and 1980.

{Continued)
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CERTIFICATION

MUR 1047
General Counsel's Report
Dated May 13, 1982

Approve and send the letter
and General Counsel's Factual
and Legal Analysis to the
Passaic County Democratic
Committee, as submitted with
the General Counsel's Report
signed May 13, 1982,

Commissioners Elliott, Harris, McDonald, McGarry

and Reiche voted affirmatively; Commissioner Aikens

7 7

did not cast a vote.

3

Attest:

. x 0
>Z7WW WM___
(/ Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission
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Received in Office of Commission Secretary: 5-13-82, 4:07
Circulated on 48 hour tally basis: 5-14-82, 2:00




May 13, 1982

MEMORANDUM TO: Marjorie Emmons
FROM: Steven Barndollar
SUBJECT: MUR 1047

Please have the attached General Counsel's Report

distributed to the Commission on a 48 hour tally batis.

Thank you.

Attachment
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'BEVORE THE PEDERAL ELECTION CosersiiyoM Of THE
COMMISTION SLCRETARY

g2 MAY 13 Pd: DT

In the Matter of

MUR 1047
Passaic County Democratic
Committee

I. Background

On July 14, 1981, the Commission voted to audit the Passaic
County Democratic Committee (the "Committee®™) pursuant to
2 U.S.C. § 437g. Prior to the audit, the Commission had found
reason to believe that the Committee had violated certain
provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended (the "Act®). Specifically, on February 8, 1980, the
Commission had found reason to believe that the Committee
violated 2 U.S.C. § 433, 11 C.F.R. § 102.6(b) 1/ and 2 U.S.C.
§ 441b(a) by transferring funds from accounts established for
non-federal elections which contained corporate monies to its
account designated for federal election activities.
Additionally, on July 14, 1981, the Commission found reason to
believe that the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434, 11 C.F.R.
§ 104.12 by failing to disclose the source of its cash on hand
in 1978 and 1980; 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f) by receiving a contribution

1/ This cite refers to the regulations in effect at the date
that the activity in question took place, namely, the regulations
prior to the January 1, 1981 revisions. This provision is
presently 11 C.F.R. § 102.5(a).




in excess of limitations set forth by 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a); and
2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to disclose receipts and expenditures
for administrative costs in its 1980 reports.

The Commission and the Committee had been engaged in
informal conciliation from November 13, 1980 to July 19, 1981, at
which time the Commission suspended the conciliation proceedings

until the audit results were available. The audit was completed

on January 15, 1982. 2/ The Audit Division forwarded a report to

this office on March 4, 1982,

This report will analyze the information obtained from the
audit regarding the Committee's general financial activities.
This report will also discuss information relating to previous
reason to believe findings, and will recommend additional reason
to believe findings.

II. Overview: the Committee's General Financial Activities

The most notable fact evidenced by the audit is that the
Committee is primarily a state and local committee. The audit
work papers show that the Committee's financial activities
focused on non-federal party elections. 1In fact, the Committee
never made a direct contribution to any federal candidate. The

Committee did however pay for billboards and get-out-the-vote

2/ The audit was initially scheduled for early November,

however, due to problems of coordination with Committee
personnel, the audit had to be rescheduled for December 7, 1981.

Moreover, due to further problems of coordination with the
Committee, the audit was temporarily suspended from December 14

through January 4, 1982.
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activities which indirectly supported certain federal candidates
whose names appeared on the billboards or ballots. The Committee
was therefore required to allocate to federal elections a
weighted portion of these expenditures.

The audit disclosed that the Committee had an aggregate of
eight accounts 3/ during the audit period; however, expenditures
for federal elections were only made from three of
these accounts. 4/ Attached for the Commission's reference is a
flow chart illustrating the relationship of these accounts (see
Attachment 1).

The total amount expended for federal elections only
constituted a small percentage of the Commitee's activities. The
audit work papers show that from January, 1978 through December,
1981 (hereinafter referred to as the "audit period®) 5/ an

aggregate of $52,251.04 was attributable to federal election

3/ The Committee had four "Election”" accounts, one "Regular”
account, and three "Office" accounts. The label ®"Election® does
not necessary refer to an account established for federal
elections. This is evident from the fact that certain "Election®
accounts were very active in 1979 and 1981 when no expenditures
were made for federal elections.

4/ These three accounts were not all active simultaneously.
Also, all three accounts were with the same bank. The Committee
drew from the Election 1 account in 1978; the Election 2 account
in 1980; and the Regular account in 1978 and 1980. The numerics
assigned to these accounts are by this office for reference
purposes.

5/ an figures and comments relate to the audit period unless
otherwise specified.
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activities, whereas the aggregate amount expended was
$385,009.68. Thus, the amount of the expenditures attributable
to federal elections comprise 13.6% 6/ of the Committee's total
financial activity. Also, certain federal candidates reimbursed
the Committee for expenditures made on their behalf.
Specifically, the principal campaign committee of Congressman
Robert A. Roe, repaid the Committee $10,780.00. Likewise, the
Carter-Mondale Re-Election Committee, Inc. repaid the Committee
$1,436.33. The balance of contributions received from federally
registered committees was $2,127.00. 1/

The Committee received an aggregate of $405,010.00 in all
eight of its accounts. Of this amount, $50,755.00 were verified
as corporate contributions; 8/ $4,870.00 were contributions from
labor organizations and local government groups; and $55,868.01

were contributions from unregistered committees. 3/ As noted,

6/ Additionally, this percentage results after using an
allocation formula (approved by the Commission in AO 1976-72)
which applies proportionately more weight to federal candidates.

1/ These contributions are as follows: $1,300.00 and $700.00
from the Women's Division of the Passaic County Democratic Club
on October 4, 1978 and October 23, 1979, respectively; and
$127.00 from the New Jersey Democratic State Committee, Federal
Election Account, on October 8, 1980.

8/ The Office of General Counsel sent to the New Jersey State
Corporate Division a list of all contributing entities in the
Committee's ledger which might have been incorporated. The
"corporate contributions" referred to in this report are the
contribuitons from those entities the Corporate Division has
documented as incorporated.

9/ New Jersey election law permits the receipt and use of all of
these contributions for its elections.




the Committee only received $14,370.33 from federally registered

committees, of which $12,216.33 were reimbursed. Thus, the audit

work papers demonstrate that the Committee's primary concern was
non-federal elections. 10/
III. Previous Reason to Believe Findings

A. Use of Impermissible Punds in connection with Pederal
Blections

On February 8, 1980, the Commission found reason to believe
that the Passaic County Democratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 433, 11 C.F.R. § 102.6 and 2 U.S.C. § 441b by transferring
monies from an account containing corporate contributions to an
account from which expenditures for federal elections were made.

2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) prohibits political committees from
accepting and using contributions from corporations and labor
organizations in connection with federal elections. 1In order to
ensure that political committees do not commingle these
prohibited monies with funds permitted for use in federal
elections -- especially in states which permit the use of

corporate and labor contributions for state and local elections -

10/ 1t should also be noted that had the Committee been
knowledgeable of federal election laws and established separate
federal and non-federal accounts in accordance with 11 C.F.R.

§ 102.6, the Committee lawfully could have used corporate and
labor contributions to finance those expenditures allocated to
state and local candidates in connection with its partisan and
get-out-the-vote drives pursuant to AO 1978-10. These drives
comprised a good portion of the Committee's activities.




- the Commission's regulations at 11 C.F.R. § 102.6 set forth

specific requirements for establishing and maintaining accounts.

Namely, this provision states that political committees which
finance activities in connection with both federal and non-
federal elections shall either establish a separate Federal
campaign committee which shall register as a political committee;
or establish a single committee with a single account to make
contributions to Federal and non-Federal candidates, but only if
all contributions received are permissible under the Act.

The Committee failed to comply with either option. Rather,
the Committee made expenditures for both federal and non-federal
election activities from several accounts which contained monies
not permissible under the Act.

The Committee made expenditures for federal and non-federal
primary elections in 1978 and 1980 from its Regular Account.

This account received $4,745.00 from corporations and $100.00
from labor organizations in 1978; and $2,020.00 from corporations
and $1,300.00 from labor organizations in 1980. The Committee
made expenditures for federal and non-federal general election
activities from its Election 1 account in 1978, and from its

Election 2 account in 1980. Although no prohibited contributions




were directly deposited in these Election accounts, the Committee

made the following transfers from its Regular Account. 11/
FROM 70 AMOUNT DATE OF TRANSFER
Regular Election 1 $19,700.00 11/01/78
Total $19,700.00
Regular Election 2 $ 4,000.00 09/10/80
$ 8,830.00 10/27/80
$ 2,000.00 10/30/80
$ 1,900.00 11/12/80
Total $16,730.00
Inasmuch as the Committee failed to establish and maintain
 accounts as prescribed by 11 C.F.R. § 102.6, the audit confirms
that the Committee violated 11 C.F.R. § 102.6(b) and 2 U.S.C.
§ 441b by depositing and transferring contributions from
corporations and labor organizations into its accounts used to
finance federal and non-federal election activities.
B. Fajilure to Disclose Cash on Hand
On July 14, 1981, the Commission found reason to believe
that the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 and 1l C.F.R.

1l/ The Committee also made other inter-account transfers,
however, these transfers were to accounts not involved in
financing federal election activities.
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§ 104.12 12/ by failing to disclose the source of its cash on
hand in 1978 and 1980. The Committee reported a balance of
82,692.00 as its cash on hand upon registering in 1978. The
Committee failed to adequately disclose the origin of this
opening balance in its reports. The audit revealed that the bash
on hand as of July 1, 1978 consisted of the following:

Amount Source

$ 450.00 From individuals
1,500.00 From a registered committee
199.48 Reimbursement

90.76 Residual balance of a 1977
account

451.76 From an unregistered political
organization

$2,692.00 13/  TOTAL
The Committee also failed to adequately disclose the source

of its cash on hand upon registering in 1980. 14/ when questioned

12/ Formerly 11 C.F.R. § 104.10. This provision requires
political committees which have cash on hand at the time of
registration to disclose in their reports the source of the cash
on hand at registration. The cash on hand balance is assumed to
be comprised of those contributions most recently received by the
Committee. Further, any contributions not permissible under the
Act shall be excluded from funds to be used for Federal
elections.

13/ The audit report suggests that the reimbursement, the
residual balance of the 1977 account, and the contribution from
the unregistered political organization possibly contained funds
prohibited by 2 U.S.C. § 441b.

14/ The Committee terminated its 1978 account on November 20,
1978, and registered another account on August 20, 1980.




about the origin of its $1,619.57 beginning balance, the
Committee explained that this amount was the residual of its 1979
Election account which was transferred to the 1980 Election
account. Inasmuch as the last deposit into its 1979 Election
account was a $23,000.00 transfer from its Regular Account which
contained corporate and labor monies, the 1980 cash on hand
apparently contained funds prohibited by 2 U.S.C. § 441b.
Therefore, the Office of General Counsel recommends that the
Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated

2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.12 by including monies
from corporations and labor organizations within its cash on hand
in 1978 and 1980.

C. Receipt of Excessive Contribution

On July 14, 1981, the Commission found reason to bélieve

that the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f) by receiving a
contribution in excess of limitations set forth by 2 U.S.C.

§ 44la(a). 15/ The Commission based this finding on a report
which disclosed a $12,000.00 loan from the Jefferson National
Bank on October 17, 1980, which was endorsed by Robert Angele.
Since the Committee's reports only disclosed one person as the
endorser, it appeared that the entire amount of the loan may have

been a contribution from Mr. Angele.

15/ 2 u.s.C. § 44la(a) (1) (C) prohibits individuals from
contributing in excess of $5,000.00 per calendar year to state
party committees. 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f) prohibits committees from
receiving contributions in excess of the limitations set forth by
2 U.S.C. § 441a(a).




The audit disclosed that the loan was in fact endorsed by
Mr. Robert Angele and his wife, Lucy Angele. 16/ The loan was
deposited in the Committee's Election 2 account.

11 C.F.R. § 100.7(a) (1) (i) (C) states that a loan is a
contribution by each endorser or guarantor, and that each
endorser or guarantor shall be deemed to have contributed that
portion of the total amount of the loan for which he or she
agreed to be liable. 17/ Accordingly, this loan constitutes a
$6,000.00 contribution from each of the Angeles. Each of these
contributions exceeds lawful contribution limitations by
$1,000.00. 18/ The audit therefore confirms this reason to
believe finding, however, the audit also reveals that the
Committee accepted not one, but rather two excessive

contributions.

16/ It remains unclear to whom the loan check was made payable,
however, bank records show that the loan and interest
($12,312.00) were repaid by a Pebruary 10, 1981 check drawn on
the Committee's Election 3 account.

17/ Moreover, (former) 11 C.F.R. § 102.6 sets forth that all
contributions deposited into an account from which both federal
and non-federal expenditures are made are subject to the
contribution limitations of the act regardless of whether such
contributions are for use in connection with federal or
non-federal elections. Thus, the loan, regardless of whether the
Angeles intended it to finance non-federal elections, is subject
to the Act's contribution limitations.

18/ The audit report notes that the Audit Division's review of
receipts records for the period audited revealed no other
contributions from either Robert or Lucy Angele.




D. Failure to Report Administrative Costs in 1980

On July 14, 1981, the Commission found reason to believe
that the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to disclose
and allocate expenditures for administrative costs for federal
activities in 1980. 19/ The Committee's reports show that the
Committee paid $694.77 in administrative expenses from its
Election accounts in 1980 and 1981. The Committee paid
$19,166.60 for administrative expenses from its non-federal
accounts in 1980-1981. The auditors have calculated, according
to various allocation methods approved by the Commission, that

the amount that should have been allocated to federal

administrative costs was_at least $7,964.41. The audit therefore

confirms the Commission's previous finding regarding this issue.

IV. Additional Recommended Findings: Failure to Register
Timely and Failure to Report Receipts and Disbursements

2 U.S.C. § 433 requires that committees which receive
contributions or make expenditures in connection with federal
elections exceeding $1,000.00 in a calendar year must register
with the Commission 10 days after such receipts or expenditures.
2 U.S.C. § 434 requires these political committees to file

reports with the Commission.

19/ These expenses were drawn from the Regular Account.
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The Committee initially registered with the Commission on
July 10, 1978, and reported the activity of its Election 1 and
Regular accounts from July 1, 1978 until its termination on
November 30, 1978. However, the audit disclosed that the
Committee made expenditures for federal and non-federal primary
election expenses aggregating $8,160.00 in June, 1978. Since the
primary ballot contained two federal Democratic candidates, the
expenditures attributable to federal elections exceeded
$1,000.00. These expenditures were not included in their
reports. The Committee therefore should have registered ten days
after making these expenditures, and should also have reported
these expenditures.

The Committee re-registered with the Commission on
August 20, 1980, and reported its Election 2 account from July 1
through December 31, 1980. However, the audit revealed that the
Committee expended at least $13,150.00 on May 30 and 31, 1980 for
1980 primary election expenses from its Regular account. The
1980 ballot contained four federal Democratic candidates as well
as other non-federal candidates. Proper allocation of these
expenditures would trigger the Committee's obligation to register
10 days after making these expenditures. Additionally, the
Committee should have reported these expenditures and should have

reported the financial activity of both accounts.




The Office of General Counsel therefore recommends that the
Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated
2 U.S.C. § 433 by failing to timely register in 1978 and 1980,
and 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to report receipts and
disbursements in 1978 and 1980.

The Committee made no expenditures in connection with
federal elections in 1979 or 1981. The Committee nevertheless
reported receipts and disbursements of three accounts in 1981.
The Committee reported all activity from two of these accounts,
but only part of one account. (See Attachment 1). However, it

is important to point out that the Committee had originally

planned to terminate after the elections in 1980, as it did in

1978. The Committee nevertheless has continued in good faith to
file reports with the Commission despite the absence of federal
activity. The Committee would have terminated but for this
investigation. No recommendation is made regarding the
Committee's 1981 reports in light of these circumstances.
v. Procedural Recommendations Made to Committee's Treasurer
Following consultation with this office, the auditors held
an exit conference with the Committee's Treasurer Edward S.
Hochman to summarize the audit findings and make procedural
recommendations for future activities to prevent any recurrence

of the matters noted during this audit.
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Specifically, the auditors suggested that the Committee

establish a new committee, with a new bank account, entitled in
such a manner so as to not be confused with the present
committee. This will enable the Committee to get involved in the
1982 Federal elections without expending monies from the existent
accounts which contain monies prohibited by the Act. The
auditors informed Mr. Hochman that funds contained in the present
accounts should not be transferred into the new account.

In addition, the auditors informed Mr. Hochman of the
requirements related to raising contributions for the Federal
account, as well as the prohibitions and limitations on such
contributions including the requirements concerning the
allocation of administrative expenses. The auditors further
advised the Committee that it should continue reporting until the
issues addressed in this matter are resolved.

VI. Recommendations

Based on the discussion presented above, the Office of
General Counsel recommends that the Commission:

1) Find reason to believe that the Passaic County
Democratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R.
§ 104.12 by including monies from corporations and labor

organizations within its cash on hand in 1978 and 1980;
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2) Find reason to believe that the Passaic County
Democratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 433 by failing to
register timely in 1978 and 1980;

3) Find reason to believe that the Passaic County
Democratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to report
receipts and disbursements in 1978 and 1980;

4) Approve and send the attached letter and General
Counsel's Factual and Legal Analysis to the Passaic County

Democratic Committee.

%/[ﬂ»q/ /A

Date J Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

zm

Refineth A. Gross .,/
Associate General Counsel

Attachments

1. Flowchart of Committee Bank Accounts (1 p.)
2. Report from Audit Division (13 pp.)

3. Letter and General Counsel's Factual and Legal Analysis
to Respondent
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINCTON, D.C. 20463

G81-3

March 4, 1982

CHARLES N. STEELE
GENERAL COUNSEL

THROUGH:: B. ALLEN CLUTTER
; STAFF DIRECTOR

FROM: _ BOB COSTA %: /C‘/

SUBJECT: ‘AUDIT OF PASSAIC COUNTY
DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE

I.. Background

Attached for your information are the findings of our audit
of the Passaic County Democratic Committee ("PCDC"). On July

14, 1981, the Commission approved the Audit Division's
‘recommendation that "an audit be conducted in order to obtain

compliance with the Act, to correct and clarify the public
record, and possibly to expedite the resolution of the matters
contained in MUR 1047."

The audit was conducted in accgordance with Section
437g(a) (2) of Title 2 of the United States Code which provides -
that when the Commission determines, by an affirmative vote of 4
of its members, that it has reason to believe that a person has
committed a violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of
1971 as amended ("the Act"), the Commission shall make an
investigation of such alleged violation, which may include an
audit.

The principal officers of the PCDC during the period covered
by the audit were Peter J. Cammarano, Treasurer, from July, 1978 -
to June, 1981 and Edward S. Hochman, Treasurer, from June, 1981
through the present. The PCDC is now located in Clifton, New
Jersey.
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II. Overview

The PCDC registered with the Federal Election Commission
("FEC") .on July 10, 1978 and filed reports covering activity from
July 1,.;1978 until its termination on November 20, 1978. During
this period the PCDC reported an opening cash balance of §2,692,
total receipts of $47,155, total expenditures of $44,964.68, and -
a closing cash balance of $4,882.32. >

_ The PCDC again registered with the FEC on August 20, 1980
and filed reports covering activity from July 1, 1980 through
July-15, 1981, the final coverage date of the most recent report
filed at the time of the audit. During this period the PCDC

reported an opening cash balance of $1,619.51, total receipts of

$50,920.14, total expenditures of $51,522.96, and a closing cash

balance of $1,016.69. ' i

Although tbe audit covered the periods which the PCDC
reported to the Commission, as discussed above, certain records
were reviewed from January 1, 1978 through December 31, 1981.
puring this period, the Committee maintained the following
checking accounts:

Account Period Open Apparent Purpose -

1. Regular/10-1620-5 1/1/78-6/16/81 To receive contribu-
i/ ' tions and transfers,
make administrative
and primary election
expenditures, as
well as transfers to
other PCDC accounts.

Activity from 7/1/78
-11/20/78 was
reported to FEC.

2. Election/18-3584-1 1/1/78 To receive contributions
1/ . -6/19/79 and transfers, make
’ election day and general
election media expendi-
tures, as well as
transfers to other
PCDC accounts.

activity from 7/1/78-
11/20/78 was reported
to FEC.
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&ccount Period Open Apparent Purpose

- 3. Election/10-4434-5 6/19/79 Same as 2. except
! -6/16/81 activity from 7/1/80-
e 6/16/81 was
' reported to FEC.

. Election/7203383 2/6/81 Same as 2. except
-6/23/81 activity from 2/6/81-

6/23/81 was partiall
reported to FEC. ZZ
Election/19-2212-8 6/16/81 Same as 2. except all
, : -12/31/81 3/ activity for the

period of audit was
reported to FEC.

Office/14-3632-2 5/5/80 To receive contributions
' -3/10/81 and transfers, make
i general office expendi-
tures, as well as’
transfers to other
PCDC accounts,;. The
activity in this
account was not
reported to the FEC.

Office/7203375 2/6/81 Same as 6.
. -6/23/81

Office/19-2207-2 6/16/81 Same as 6.
-12/31781 3/ -

See Flowchart at Attachment 1.

The matters noted in findings A, C, D, and E correspond
to those matters addressed in MUR 1047. 1In addition, Findings
B . and F contain other matters noted during the audit which may
warrant inclusion in this MUR. ~

Should you have any questions, please contact Charlie
Hanshaw or Tom Nurthen at extension 3-4155.

1/ Account was opened prior to 1/1/78.
2/ See Finding B. |

3/ Account remained open subsequent to 12/31/81."

~
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I1I. Summary of Findings

A. Acceptance of Prohibited Contributions

. Sect1on 441b(a) of Title 2, United States Code
proh1bi;s any corporation or labor organlzatxon from making a
contribution in connection with any federal election and
prohibits any person from knowingly accepting such a
contribution.

Section 102.5(a) (1) (i) and (ii) of Title 11 of the
Code of Federal Regulations (former 11 C.F.R. Section 102.6) 4/
requires that each party committee which finances political
activity in connection with activity in both federal and non-
federal elections shall either: (i) Establish a separate federal
account which shall be treated as a separate federal commzttee
and only funds subject to the prohibitions and limitations of the
Act shall be deposited:in this account. All disbursements in

@ connection with.federal activity shall be made from this account

o and no transfers may be made to such federal account from an
account maintained for the purpose of financing activity in

74 connection with non-federal elections, or (ii) Establish a

political committee which shall receive only contributions
subject to the prohibitions and limitations of the Act,
regardless of whether such contributions are for use zh
connection with federal or non-federal elections.

e 108 During a review of the receipts records (1/1/78
R £ through 12/31/81), it was determined that the PCDC accepted the
; following apparent prohibited contributions:

" e, -
Source Number of Items

Dollar Amount

.- Business Entities 205 $34,070.00

Labor Organizations 11 2,140.00
Unregistered Political 110 49,514.21

Organizations

(<)}

Total : 32 $85,724.21

4/ The term "former" when used in conJunctlcn with a regulatxon
refers to the Commission's regulations in effect prior to

the revision made as a result of the 1979 Amendments to the
Act (Pub. L. No. 96-187).
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With respect to the contributions received
from the above business entities, it should be noted that the
receipts journal maintained by the PCDC documented 30 of the
above contributions totaling $2,760 as being received from

corporations. 5/

¥ It should also be noted that included in the above
totals are the following contributions accepted by the PCDC
prior to its reporting with the FEC (1/1/78-6/30/78) in 1978
and subsequent to its termination (11/21/78-6/30/80). 6/

Number of Items Dollar Amount

Business Entities 142 $20,680.00
Labor Organizations . 8 1,500.00

Source

e

Unregistered 69 32,294.21
Political v
Organizations

Total 219 - $54,474.21

g As requested, workpapers identifying the above

o entities have been provided to your office for verrfiggtlon
5 purposes, hence, no attempt to verify the status of the above
25 - business entities will be undertaken by the Audit Division.

g 7 | 2. Receipt of Transfers from
Non-Federal Accounts

rff?' During the period subsequent to the PCDC
;E{m registration with the FEC in August 1980, it received 7 transfers
el totaling $27,132.27. 7/ The transfers were made from accounts

R (non-Federal, non-reporting) maintained by the PCDC.

5/ According to PCDC officials, if the contributor's check
contained the notation Corp. or Inc., that information
was recorded in the receipts journal.

The PCDC registered on August 20, 1980 and filed reports
commencing July 1, 1980.

$1,147 of this amount was transferred back to the non-
Federal account from which it emanated. Further,
$16,730 of these transfers are addressed in MUR 1047.
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The accounts from which the transfers emanated
contained contributions from business entities, labor

organizations, and unregistered political organizations.

Based on the above it is our opinion that the PCDC
violated 11 Cc.F.R. 102.5 (former 11 C.F.R. 102.6), and
potentlally 2 U.S.C. 441b(a), since it transferred funds from its
non-Federal accounts to the Federal accounts and it is apparent
that the accounts from which the transfers were made contained
funds prohibited by the Act for use in Federal elections.

As addressed in MUR 1047, the Committee effected
an inter-account transfer on 11/1/78 in the amount of $19,700.
However, at that time the PCDC maintained two checking accounts
and reported the activity from both accounts in its FEC reports.
The $19,700 was not disclosed by the PCDC since the funds flowed

from one PCDC account to another PCDC account and as such
' represents a non-reportable transaction. Therefore, it is our
opinion that nco violation of former 11 C.F.R. 102.6 occurred with
respect to this transfer of funds, since the activity of the
account which funded this transfer was reported to the FEC.

It was also noted that the PCDC made another
inter-account transfer on 11/1/79 in the amount of $23,000. °
However, at the time the transfer occurred, the PCDC gas not a
registered political committee nor did it conduct any federal
activity from these accounts. Therefore, it is our opinion that
no violation occurred with respect to the making of this
transfer.

B. Misstatement of Reported Receipts and Disbursements

Sections 434 (b) (2) and (4) of Title 2 of the United
States Code (former 2 U.S.C. 434(b)(8) and (ll)) require the
disclosure of the total amount of all receipts and disbursements
by a political committee.

Section 102.5(a) (1) (i) and (ii) of Title 11 of the Code
of Federal Regulations (former 11 C.F.R. Section 102.6) requires
that each party committee which finances political activity in
connection with activity in both federal and non-federal
elections shall either: (i) Establish a separate federal account
which shall be treated as a separate federal committee and only
funds subject to the prohibitions and limitations of the Act
shall be deposited in this account. All disbursements in’
connection with federal activity shall be made from this account
and no transfers may be made to such federal account from an
account maintained for the purpose of financing activity in
connection with non-federal elections, or (ii) Establish a
political committee which shall receive only contributions
subject to the prohibitions and limitations of the Act,
regardless of whether such contributions are for use in
connection with federal or non-federal elections. '
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The Audit staff determined through the reconciliation
of the PCDC bank accounts to its disclosure reports that total
reported receipts and disbursements were understated by
$33,045.46 and $31,063.35 respectively. This misstatement
occu:zed primarily as a result of the PCDC's failure to disclose
the folxowing-

Receipts Disbursements

$

875.00

$ 2,000.00
31,145.46

2,000.00
28,420.79
$31,295.79

$33,145.46

The PCDC's accountant stated that the unreported
receipts and disbursements for 1981 noted above were not
disclosed since there was no Federal -activity during that period,

. and that the PCDC remained active only because the matters under
review by the Office of General Counsel had not been ngsolved
The majority of the unreported receipt and expenditure’ activity

in 1981 occurred in ‘account $#7203383 (for a description of this

account see page 3 of this report). No comment was made with
respect to the other misstatements. :

. The Audit staff concurs with the accountant that there
was no Federal activity during 1981. However, it is our opinion
that since the PCDC elected to disclose both Federal and non-
Federal activity for 1981 up to this time, they should have
continued to disclose the activity while the PCDC was reporting
with the Commission.

: C; Disélosure of Cash on Hand

Section 104.12 of Title 11, Code of Federal Regulations
(forme: 11 C.F.R. Section 104.10) requires political committees
which have cash on hand at the time of registration to disclose
in their reports the source of the cash on hand at registration.
The cash on hand balance is assumed to be comprised of those
contributions most recently received by the Committee. Further,
any contributions not permissible under the Act shall be excluded
from funds to be used for Federal elections.
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1. 1978 Cash on Hand

The PCDC reported cash on hand at inception
(7/1/78) of $2,692, but no explanation as to the source of funds
was provided. When contacted by the FEC's Reports Analysis
Division concerning this omission, the PCDC responded that the
opening cash "represented the balance in the general account used
to maintain the running of the office. Most of these funds had
been collected from sustaining memberships.*

The auditors reviewed the bank records from 1/1/78
through 6/30/78 for the two accounts reported by the PCDC. The
staff determined that the source of the contributions making up
cash on hand as of 7/1/78 consisted of the following:

Amount Source

$ 450.60 - From individuals
1,500.00 From a registered committee
199.48 " Reimbursement 9/
90.76 Residual balance of a 1977 account _/
451.76 8/ From an unregistered political
organization 9/

$2,692.00 . é

Furthermore, it should be noted that during the
~ period January 1, 1978 through June 30, 1978, the PCDC received
-and deposited contributions from unregistered political
organizations, labor organizations, and business entities (see
Finding A).

2. 1980 Cash on Hand.

The PCDC reported cash on hand at inception
(7/1/80) of $1,619.51 and stated that this amount "represents the
balance in the 1979 Election account that was transferred to the
1980 Election account."

The actual amount of this receipt was $750. Since this
receipt was the oldest (received prior to other above
listed receipts) only $451.76 was included in order to
derive the reported cash on hand amount.

The above categories could possibly contain funds from
prohibited sources.
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As previously noted, the PCDC terminated reporting
to the Commission on November 20, 1978, and subsequently
registered again on August 20, 1980. At that time (1980 -
Conmittee), the PCDC reported activity from only one account (10-
4434-5),. ‘In determining the source of the cash on hand reported
as of July 1, 1980 ($1,619.51), the Audit staff noted the last
deposit made prior to its registration was in the amount of
$23,000. This deposit consisted of funds transferred from
another account (10-1620-5) maintained by PCDC.

It should be noted that the account from which the
transfer was made (10-1620-5) contained monies received from
unregistered political organizations, labor organizations, and
business entities.

The Audit staff is of the opinion that the
(reported) cash on hand at the time the PCDC registered in 1978
and 1980 was composed of funds prohibited under the Act.

D. Contributions In Excess of Limitations

Sections 44la(a) (1) (C) and 44la(f) of Title 2 of the
United States Code state, in part, that no person shall make
contributions to any other political committee in anyjcalendar
year which, in the aggregate, exceed $5,000 and no political
committee shall knowingly accept any contribution in v1olat1on of
this section.

Section 431(8) (A) (i) of Title 2 of the United States
Code states, in part, that the term "contribution" includes any
loan made by any person for the purpose of influencing any
election for Federal office.

The PCDC disclosed a $12,000 loan on Schedules A and C
as being received from a bank on October 17, 1980 and
subsequently repaid on February 18, 1981. The PCDC also reported
the loan as being co-signed by one individual (Robert Angele).
The Audit staff's review of the loan documentation revealed that
the loan had actually been made by the bank directly to Mr. and
Mrs. Robert Angele and was secured with their certificate of
deposit valued at $100,000.

The Audit staff's review of receipts records for the
period audited revealed that Mr. and Mrs. Angele had made no
other contributions to the PCDC.
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A former PCDC official stated that there was a need for
the money and that Mr. Angele, a county committeeman, offered to
obtain the loan.

{ It is our opinion that the loan, during the period
outstanding, constituted contributions from both Mr. and Mrs.
Angele, each totaling $6,000, which exceed the limitation at 2
U. S C. 44la(a) (1) (C).

E. Allocation of Administrative Costs

Section 106.1(e) of Title 11 of the Code of Federal
Regulations states, in part, that party committees and other
political committees which have established Federal campaign
committees pursuant to 1l C.F.R. 102.5 (former 11 C.F.R. 102.6)
shall allocate administrative expenses on a reasonable basis
between their Federal and non-Federal accounts in proportion to
the amount of funds expended on Federal and non-Federal
elections, or on another reasonable basis.

ity 1978 Administrative Expenses

The PCDC included in its FEC reports all receipts
and expenditures with respect to its Federal and non-Ebderai
activities. Therefore, it is our opinion that allocation of
administrative expenses is not required.

2. 1980 and 1981 Administrative Expenses

During the period that the PCDC reported its 1980
and 1981 ‘activities (7/1/80 7/15/81), adm1n15trat1ve expenses

and included in its FEC reports. However, administrative
expenses of $19,166.60 were paid.from the Office accounts (non-
Federal), hence, this act1V1ty was not included in its FEC
reports.

. Should the Office of General Counsel deem that,
due to the interwoven structure of the bank accounts, the
activity from all accounts (both Federal and non-Federal) is
required to be reported to the Commission in an amended report,
administrative expenses paid from these accounts would not
require allocation. However, absent such a determination, the
PCDC should determine on a reasonable basis, the amount of
administrative expenses allocable to the Federal accounts, and
provide work sheets including formulas detailing the allocation.
The PCDC should, if necessary, reimburse the non-Federal accounts
for the appropriate amount and provide evidence of the
reimbursement.
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The Audit Division has copies of disbursements
journals detailing expenditures made from each bank account which
can be used to determine the reasonableness of any allocation
that is made by the PCDC.

F.’ egistration and Reporting In A Timely Manner

Section 433(a) of Title 2 of the United States Code
requires committees which are not authorized committees or
separate segregated funds to file a statement of organization
within 10 days after becoming a political committee.

Section 434 (a) requires each treasurer of a political
committee to file reports in accordance with the provisions of
this subsection.

1. 1978 Registration/Reporting
The PCDC registered as a political committee on
July 10, 1978 and filed reports of receipts and expenditures for
the period July 1, 1978 through November 20, 1978, at which time
it filed a termination report.

The Audit staff's review of activity prior to
registration revealed that at least $8,160 was expended prior to
July 1, 1978 for a telephone deposit and election day monies made
in conjunction with the 1978 Primary Election. The ballot
contained two Congressional seats as well as non-Federal seats
for nomination. These expenditures were not included in reports
-filed with the Commission.

2. 1980 Registration/Reporting

The PCDC registered as a political committeé on
August 20, 1980. The initial report filed presented activity
beginning on July 1, 1980.

At least $13,150 was disbursed on May 30 and 31,
1980 for street monies in conjunction with the primary election.
The 1980 ballot contained four Federal seats for re-election in
addition to the non-Federal seats.

The PCDC officials stated that New Jersey law
prohibits the support of candidates in the primary election.
Therefore, they felt that the activity was not required to be
reported to the Commission.
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With respect to both the 1978 and 1980 activity,
it appears that the PCDC was involved in getting out the vote for
the entire Democratic ticket, rather than supporting clearly
identified candidates. Since the ballots contained both Federal
and non-Féderal offices for nomination, the Audit staff applied a
formula which proportionately weighs such offices. The
application of the formula, when applied to the get-out-the-vote
activity in 1978 and 1980, indicates that the portion of the
expenditures allocable to Federal offices exceeds the threshold
amount ($1,000) in 2 U.S.C. 431 for determining whether a
committee meets the definition of a political committee.
Therefore, it is our opinion that this activity (1978 - §8,160,
1980 - $13,150) should have been included in the PCDC's reports.

G. Procedural Recommendations Made to PCDC Treasurer

Following consultation with your office, an exit
conference was <held with PCDC Treasurer Edward S. Hochman to
. summarize the audit findings and make procedural recommendations
for future activities to prevent any recurrence of the matters
. noted during this audit.

5pec1fica11y, we suggested that the PCDC establish a
new committee, with a new bank account, entitled in si#ch a manner
so as to not be confused with the present committee. "This will
enable the PCDC to get involved in the 1982 Federal elections
without expending monies which are prohibited by the Act. We
informed Mr. Hochman that funds contained in the present accounts
should not be transferred into the new PCDC committee.

In addition, we informed Mr. Hochman of the :
requirements related to raising contributions for the Federal
account, as well as the prohibitions and limitations on such
contributions. _

We further advised Mr. Hochman of the requirements
concerning the allocation of administrative expenses and
suggested various methods which the PCDC should consider when
allocatzng such expenses, and that the present PCDC should
continue reporting until the matters addressed in MUR 1047 are
resolved.




Attachment 1

FPlowchart of Committee Bank Accounts

2/ 3y
1979 Ay 1980

18-358412§} i 18-3584-1 '

[ | $278.90;

l | 6/19/19 ' A $9,735.5)

2/6/81

$3,490 10-4434-5 (8 = >
11727778 | 10-4434-5

: 4 $216.69 $2,769.24
ml }gg ~ ’ N6/12/8)  6/22/8) ,

39.166.8J

$23,000 10/30/80 zlsml
1171729 11/32/80 |

' * | $88.46 |
6/12/81

10-1620-5 —\_10-1620-5 / { 10-1620-5 2113/88

The continuation of account from one year to the mext.
Interaccount transfer of funds.
)

Interaccount transfer of funds to close account.

The Committee rveported activity from both accounts by
covering 7/1/78 through 11/20/78. . ) 2/6/8} 25181

No:- activity was reported.

The Comaittee reported activity from 10-4434-5, _ . . iﬁ’
covering 7/1/80 through 12/31/80. y Jllﬁljl
The Committee reported all activity from 10-4434-5 and 19-2212-8, : 19-2207-2
and some activity from 7203383 (Sce Finding B ). 4
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETORN RECEIPT REQUESTED

John F. Geaney
COLE, GEANEY, YAMNER
AND BYRNE
100 Hamilton Plaza
P.O. Box D
Paterson, New Jersey 07509

Re: MUR 1047
Passaic County Democratic
Committee

Dear Mr. Geaney:

On August 6, 1981, the Federal Election Commission informed
you that it had voted to audit your client, the Passaic County
Democratic Committee (the "Committee”) pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §
437g(a) (2) . By that date, the Commission had found reason to
believe that the Passaic County Democratic Committee had violated
2 U.S.C. § 433, 11 C.F.R § 102.6(b) (2) (presently 11l C.F.R.

§ 102.5(a)) by transferring funds from a non-federal account
which contained corporate monies to its federal account; 2 U.S.C.
§ 434, 11 C.F.R. § 104.12 by failing to disclose the source of
cash on hand; 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to disclose
administrative costs in its 1980 reports; and 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f)
by receiving a contribution in excess of limitations set forth by
2 U.S.C. § 44l1a(a).

Although conciliation proceedings were in progress, the
Commission suspended the negotiations until the results from the
audit were available.

The audit was completed on January 15, 1982. The audit,
however, revealed information which supported additional




i

Y
O
Y
o

39 4

Letter to John F. Geaney
Page 2

findings.  Specifically, on May , 1982, the Commission found
reason to believe that your committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 433 by
failing to register timely and 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to
report receipts and disbursements in 1978 and 1980.

The General Counsel's factual and legal analysis, which
formed a basis for the Commission's finding, is attached for your
information.

Under the Act, you have an opportunity to demonstrate that
no action should be taken against you.

The Commission also reminds you that the 1nvest1gation being
conducted is confidential in accordance with 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and § 437g(a) (12) (A), unless you notify the
Commission in writing that you wish the investigation to be made
public.

If you have any Questions, please contact Carolyn Weeder,
the staff member assigned to this matter at (202) 523-4060.

Sincerely,

Enclosure
General Counsel's Factual and Legal Analysis




GENERAL COUNSEL'S FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

MUR NO. 1047

STAFF MEMBER & TEL. NO.
Carolyn Weeder

(202) 523-4060

RESPONDENT: Passaic County Democratic Committee

SOURCE OF MUR: INTERNALLY GENERATED

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS

On July 14, 1981, the Commission voted to audit the Passaic
County Democratic Committee (the "Committee"™) pursuant to
2 U.S.C. § 437g. Prior to the audit, the Commission had found
reason to believe that the Committee had violated certain
provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended (the "Act"). Specifically, on February 8, 1980, the
Commission had found reason to believe th;t the Committee
violated 2 U.S.C. § 433, 11 C.F.R. § 102.6(b) */ and 2 U.S.C.

§ 441b(a) by transferring funds from accounts established for
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non-federal elections which contained corporate monies to its
account designated for federal election activities.

Additionally, on July 14, 1981, the Commission found reason to

*/ This cite refers to the regulations in effect at the date
that the activity in question took place, namely, the regulations
prior to the January 1, 1981 revisions. This provision is
presently 11 C.F.R. § 102.5(a).

I
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believe that the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434, 11 C.F.R.

§ 104.12 by failing to disclose the source of its cash on hand
in 1978 and 1980; 2 U.S.C. § 44la(f) by receiving a contribution
in excess of limitations set forth by 2 U.S.C. § 44la(a); and

2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to disclose receipts and expenditures
for administrative costs in its 1980 reports.

The Commission and the Committee had been engaged in
informal conciliation from November 13, 1980 to July 19, 1981, at
which time the Commission suspended the conciliation proceedings
until the audit results were available. The audit was completed
on January 15, 1982. Based on the audit the Office of General
Counsel recommends that the Commission make the following new
findings.

FACTUAL BASIS AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

2 U.S.C. § 433 requires that committees which receive

contributions or make expenditures in connection with federal

elections exceeding §1,000.00 in a calendar year must register
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with the Commission 10 days after such receipts or expenditures.
2 U.S.C. § 434 requires these political committees to file
reports with the Commission.

The Committee initially registered with the Commission on
July 10, 1978, and reported the activity of its Election 1 and
Regular accounts from July 1, 1978 until its termination on
November 30, 1978. However, the audit disclosed that the

Committee made expenditures for federal and non-federal primary
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election expenses aggregating $8,160.00 in June, 1978. Since the
primary ballot contained two federal Democratic candidates, the
expenditures attributable to federal elections exceeded
$1,000.00. These expenditures were not included in their
reports. The Committee therefore should have registered ten days
after making these expenditures, and should also have reported
these expenditures.

The Committee re-registered with the Commission on
August 20, 1980, and reported its Election 2 account from July 1
through December 31, 1980. However, the audit revealed that the

Committee expended at least $13,150.00 on May 30 and 31, 1980 for

1980 primary election expenses from its Regular account. The

1980 ballot contained four federal Democratic candidates as well
as other non-federal candidates. Proper allocation of these
expenditures would trigger the Committee's obligation to register
10 days after making these expenditures. Additionally, the
Committee should have reported these expenditures and should have
reported the financial activity of both accounts.

The Office of General Counsel therefore recommends that the
Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated
2 U.S.C. § 433 by failing to timely register in 1978 and 1980,
2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to report receipts and disbursements in

1978 and 1980.
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The Committee also failed to adequately disclose the source
of its cash on hand upon registering in 1980. When questioned
about the origin of its $1,619.57 beginning balance, the
Committee explained that this amount was the residual of its 1979
Election account which was transferred to fhe 1980 Election
account. Inasmuch as the last deposit into its 1979 Election
account was a $23,000.00 transfer from its Regular Account which
contained corporate and labor monies, the 1980 cash on hand more
likely than not contained funds prohibited by 2 U.S.C. § 441b.
Therefore, the Office of General Counsel also recommends that the
Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated
2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.12 by including monies
from corporations and labor organizations within its cash on hand

in 1978 and 1980.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1) Find reason to believe that the Passaic County
Demcoratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 433 by failing to timely
register in 1978 and 1980.
2) Find reason to believe that the Passaic County
Democratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to report

receipts and disbursements in 1978 and 1980.




3) PFind reason to believe that the Passaic County
Democratic Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R.
§ 104.12 by including monies from corporations and labor
organizations within its cash on hand in 1978 and 1980.
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 TRANSHCY TGN NO
82°002%815

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Ao GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION C.OMMlSS\ON
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER KENNETH Ae GROSS
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS

AUDIT CODE 16

CORP NAME: GAITA MEMORIAL HOME FOR FUNERALS
CGMMENTS :
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371

2

FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL-AMT
PAYMENT AMDUNT

i

)




DEPARTMENT OF STATE

P.0. BOX 1330
TRENTON. NEW JERSEY 08828

CORPORATE STATUS ORT

9 DATE: 3/18/82

L

CORP. NAME: GAITA MEMORIAL HOME

CORP. TYPE: Domestic Profit STATUS : Changed corporate STATUS DATE: 2/21/75
name to TEDDON

INCORPORATION DATE: 11/21/63 STATE: N.J. FOLDER NO.: S48543

CORPORATION NO.: 1040-2250 LAST ANNUAL REPORT: Sept., 1974

REGISTERED AGENT: Donna Gaita

REGISTERED OFFICE: 154 Pompton Ave., Little Falls, N. J.

M. Serrano
Certification and Correspondence Section
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TRANSACY TON- ‘NG
8270025803

RECEIPT OF PAYMENTY FOR : STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Ao GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION ’
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS
CORP NAME: Fe We PRICE AGENCY, INCeo

- CRUMENTS @

L vt
(Vo
[y

7 4

3

FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE, FEE
TOTAL=AMT
PAYMENT AMOUNT




State of New Jernry
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

£.0. 80X 1330
TRENTON. NEW JERSEY 08623

CORPORATE STATUS REPORT
1 DATE: 3/16/82

5

CORP. NAME: E. W. PRICE AGENCY, INC.

CORP. TYPE; Domestic Profit STATUS: Active STATUS DATE:

INCORPORATION DATE: 12/27/50 STATE: N.J. FOLDER NO.: Y9950
CORPORATION NO.: 3786-7750 LAST ANNUAL REPORT: 4/28/81

REGISTERED AGENT: Edw. W. Price, Sr.

REGISTERED OFFICE: 75 Main St., South River, N. J. 08882

M. Serrano

Certification and Correspondence Section
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h -
S,

N

| TRANSAGY N NO
C 8278028903

| RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Ae GROSS
FECERAL ELECTION »
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER AUDIT CODE 16
 PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS

CORP NAME: YANNACCONE ASSOCIATESe INCe

COMMENTS :

~N
w
™
«
{ pr)
|2
<
cC
~~

3

J073- 3357

SHEETONDY 1

EheSE me]

FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHCTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL-AMT _
PAYMENT AMOUNT




|~A"c = , : _
State of New Jersey
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

P£.0. BOX 1330
TRENTON. NEW JERSEY 00828

CORPORATE STATUS REPORT
T DATE: 3/16/82

L |
CORP. NAME: YANNACCONE ASSOCIATES, INC.

CORP. TYPE; Domestic Profit STATUS: Active STATUS DATE:

2

INCORPORATION DATE: 3/13/69 STATR S Ny FOLDER No.: 5112550

CORPORATION NO.: 9399-4200 LAST ANNUAL REPORT: 4/6/81

REGISTERED AGENT: A. Edmond Yannaccone

REGISTERED OFFICE: 52 Bernards Ave., Bernardsville, N. J. 07924

o~
bl
]
<O
)
C3
-r
(67
"
o

M. Serrano

Certification and Correspondence Section




| TRANSHCY 10N 'NO
82°007%a0d

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Ae GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS
CORP NAME: STANDARD SPRING

C%HENTS H

PR
i A6

FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHCTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL=ANT
PAYMENT AMOUNT
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N
N
™
o
b
(=
-
-
a)
aa

DEPARTMENT OF STATE

P.0. BOX 1330
TRENTON. NEW JERSEY 08628

CORPORATE STATUS REPORT

L

CORP. NAME: STANDARD SPRINGS,

CORP. TYPE: Domestic Profit

INCORPORATION DATE: 5/2/74

CORPORATION NO.: 8492-7010

REGISTERED AGENT: Richard P.

=] DATE: 3/16/82

el

INC. (OF PATERSON, N. J.)

STATUS: Active STATUS DATE:

STATE: N.J. FOLDER NO.: S199312

LAST ANNUAL REPORTC 5/25/79

Marcus

REGISTERED OFFICE: 409 Minnisink Road, Totowa, N. J. 07512

M. Serrano

Certification and Correspondence Section




£ 8’2@60"‘!5324 R . ; o L O, = VR TV, TN, % i ":‘:‘.:,:';““'

RECEIPY OF PAYMENT FOR t STATUS REPORT (1) FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE

INQUIRY FEE
KENNETH Ao GROSS SEARCH FEE

FEDERAL ELECTION PHOTO COPY FEE
WASHINGTON DC 20463 CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE.
PAYER KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16 TOTAL=-AMT
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS PAYMENT AMOUNT

| CORP NAME: FARRINGTON SWEET SHOP

CGQMENTS:

i
O
o)
(=
<r
-

3

=




| TRANSHEY TGN NO
82°0075823

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1)

K ENNETH Ae GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER K ENNETH Ae GROSS  AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS
CORP NAME: HAGGAN ASSQOCIATION, INCe

C“HENTS 3

: k|
FILING DATE 03/11/82,

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL=AMT
PAYMENT AMOUNT




 TRANSHCT KON NO
] 8270028832

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1) FILING DATE" 03711782

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE

INQUIRY FEE
KENNETF A. GROSS SEARCH FEE

FEDERAL ELECTION il PHOTO COPY FEE
WASHINGTON DC 20463 CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE ..
: POSTAGE FEE
PAYER K ENNETH A. GROSS AUDIT CODE 16 - TOTAL=-AMT
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS PAYMENT AMOUNT

| CORP NAME: I € A ASSOCIATESes INCe
CQUMENTS :

™~

L™

-2
J

314936

2
¥

NOTE NO RECORD OF THE
ABOVE MENTIONED CORPORATION




 TRANSAGTION ‘NO
820025837

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH A, GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS

CORP NAME: JACOBS DEPARTMENT STORE, INCe

CQUMENTS:

o

1

~
N
~
c
=
!
)

2]
()

FILING DATE 03/11/82]

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHCTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED cCopY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL-AMT
PAYMENT AMOUNT




| TRANSACTION-NO ~ 1 7§
820025840 -

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETE A, GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS

CORP NAME: KESSLER BUILD ING

CQMMENTS :

FILING DATE 03/11/8&‘

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL-AMT |
PAYMENT AMOUNT




| TRANSACT ION ‘NO -
8200258473

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1) FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
KENNETH Ae GROSS SEARCH FEE
FEDERAL ELECTION PHCTO COPY FEE
WASHINGTON DC 20463 CERTIFIED COPY
| MISC FEE.
POSTAGE FEE
PAY ER KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16 TOTAL=-AMT
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS PAYMENT AMOUNT

CORP NAME: LAKEVIEW SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATICN
C@MENTS:

™M

NOTE NO RECORD OF THE
ABOVE MENTIONED CORPORATION




| TRANSACT TON NO
82:0023806 -

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Ae GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER  KENNETH A. GROSS AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS
CORP NAME: FAIR LAWN DAIRIESy INCe

COMMENTS:

™M

1

M
«©
po]
<
<
(o=
M

FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL=-ANT
PAYMENT AMOUNT




~ TRANSACY YON NOD
8278028810

RECEiPT OF PAYMENT FOR 3 STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Ae GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER  KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS
CORP NAME: FLATT & POOLE, INCe

CgﬁHENTS:

™

FILING DATE 03/11/82]

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE.
POSTAGE FEE
TCTAL=AMT.
PAYMENT AMOUNT




 TRANSACY ION NO
8250025811

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR ¢ STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Aes GRGSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER KENNETH Ao GROSS AUDIT CGDE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS
CORP NAME: FLORIST DISTRUBUTORS, INC.

CRYMMENTS @

ABOVE M

FILING DATE 03/11/82)

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL=AMT
PAYMENT AMOUNT

NOTE NO RECORD oF Ti
ENTIONSD 2

CORPORATION
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~ 82°002%814 L R . GN308— TRENT mwu o TR

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1) FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE

INQUIRY FEE
K ENNETH Ae GROSS SEARCH FEE

FEDERAL ELECTION PHOTO COPY FEE
WASHINGTON DC 20463 CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
, , POSTAGE FEE
PAYER KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16 TOTAL=-AMT
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS PAYMENT AMOUNT

CORP NAME: FUNEFEX INCORPes INCe

| COMMENTS :

™
Soma
™
0
)
[
<
c
M

¥
%

NOYE NO RECORD oF
THE
ABOVE Eoheony,




TRANSHACY TON ‘NO
82° 0028827

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1) FILING DATE 03/11/82|

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
: INQUIRY FEE
KENNETH Ao GROSS SEARCH FEE
FEDERAL ELECTION ; PHOTO COPY FEE
WASHINGTON DC 20463 CERTIFIED COPY
| MISC FEE
AN POSTAGE FEE
PAYER KENNETH Ao GROSS AUDIT CODE 16 TOTAL=-AMT
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS PAYMENT AMOUNT

CORP NAME: HERMAN ACOFSKY

COMMENTS :

M

2
o
«
arn
c
<Tr

G

QECORD OF THE
‘m% CORPORAIILN




TRANSKCT TON NO
820028826

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1) | FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE

INQUIRY FEE
KENNETH Ae GROSS SEARCH FEE

FEDERAL ELECTION PHCTO COPY FEE
WASHINGTON DC 20463 CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE .
| _ POSTAGE FEE
PAYER KENNETF Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16 TOTAL=AMT
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS PAYMENT AMOUNT

CORP NAME: HEALTF CARE ADMINISTRATORS
CGMMENTS :

M

1

e
(R

A 3 0.4

NOTE NO RECORD OF THE
llOthllﬂunuE)caﬂPoaxuou




. TRANSACT ION NO
‘ 82°002%841

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1) FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE

i#7 3 INQUIRY FEE
KENNETH Ao GROSS SEARCH FEE

FEDERAL ELECTION PHCTG COPY FEE
WASHINGTON DC 20463 CERTIFIED coPY
MISC FEE
' : POSTAGE FEE
~ PAYER KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16 TOTAL=AMT
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS PAYMENT AMOUNT

CORP NAME: KLEIN, CHAPMANy, CHESTER, GREENBERG
i CRMMENTS :

ro
o)
)
&
<r
(v
o

NO RECORD OF THE
.m"oﬁmm CORPORATION




| TRANSHOY YON ‘NO
8270025889

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR ¢ STATUS REPORT (1)

K ENNETH Ao GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS
| CORP NAME: STATESIDE HEALTH DATA SYSTEMS

CEMMENTS 2

SHEET ‘No- <1

FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL-AMT
PAYMENT AMDUNT




. TRANSACY YON NO
 82°0023887

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR ¢ STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Ae GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER ’ AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS
CORP NAME: SMITH=SANDY ASPHALT CONSTRUCTION CC

CQMMENTS :

FILING DATE 03/11/82]

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE .
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL=-AMT
PAYMENT AMOUNT

NOTE NO RECORD OF THE
MENTIONED

CORPORATION




. TRANSACY ¥ON 'NO -
8270025796

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1) FILING DATE 03/11/82]

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE

INQUIRY FEE
KENNETH Ae GROSS SEARCH FEE

FEDERAL ELECTION PHOTO COPY FEE
WAHSINGTON DC 20463 CERTIFIED COPY
. MISC FEE

L | POSTAGE FEE
PAYER KENNETH Ao GROSS AUDIT CODE 16 TOTAL=ANT
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS PAYMENT AMOUNT

CORP NAME: DORFMANy ABRAMS, MUSIC CQG.

CQQMENTS:

v

1

M
e
<o
<
&
M
e

NOTE NO RECORD OF THE
ABOVL MENTIGNEL CORPORATION




- TRANSACY ION NO
| 82 0025798

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Ae GROSS
FEDERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER  KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS
CORP NAME: CUNBARTON HOTEL

C CMMENTS :

v

5

by

FILING DATE 03/11/82.

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHOTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL-ANT
PAYMENT AMOUNT




" TRANSACT TON' NO
82°0025797

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR ¢ STATUS REPORT (1)

KENNETH Ae GROSS
FECERAL ELECTION
WASHINGTON DC 20463

PAYER  KENNETH Ae GROSS
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS

AUDIT CODE 16

CORP NAME: DUFFYS AUTO FAIR
CPMMENTS 2

v
Lo

~
O
~~
(e
-
(e

-2
»

2

SHEET ‘MO 1

FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE
INQUIRY FEE
SEARCH FEE
PHCTO COPY FEE
CERTIFIED COPY
MISC FEE
POSTAGE FEE
TOTAL=AMT
PAYMENT AMOUNT

NO RECORD OF THE
..ozssaanuu«a>caavoauﬂ0N




TRANSACTION NO 7 ©
8270023800 1ol

RECEIPT OF PAYMENT FOR : STATUS REPORT (1) FILING DATE 03/11/82

FILING FEE
LICENSE FEE

: INQUIRY FEE
KENNETH Ao GROSS ’ ' SEARCH FEE

FEDERAL ELECTION - PHCTO COPY FEE
WASHINGTON 0C 20463 CERTIFIED cOpY
MISC FEE.

, _ : ) POSTAGE FEE
PAYER KENNETH Ae GROSS AUDIT CODE 16 TOTAL=AMT
PAYMENT TYPE GRATIS PAYMENT AMOUNT

CORP NAME: DLONO VALLE & CO.

CQQMENYS:

3 6 3 ¢

)

1 4

NOTE NO RECORD OF THE
ABOVE. MENTIONED
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